
SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
MEETING 

 
SUMMONS 
 

10.30 am  
Tuesday, 4th June, 2019 
Orbit Business Centre,  
Rhydycar Business Park, Merthyr Tydfil,  
CF48 1DL 
 

 
Further information regarding this agenda is available from the  

Democratic Services Department at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
Tel: (01685) 725284     Email: democratic@merthyr.gov.uk 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Briefing Session   

 A briefing session for Panel Members will be held 
from 10.35am - 11.05am (approximately) prior to 
the arrival of any invited attendees or witnesses to 
the meeting. 
 

 

2. Apologies for Absence   

3. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
 

 

 



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel 

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

4. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s)   

4.a  Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 29 January 2019 of 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

5 - 8 

4.b  Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 23 April 2019 of 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

9 - 14 

5. Appointment of Chair   

 To consider the attached report 
 

15 - 16 

6. Appointment of Vice Chair   

 To consider the attached report 
 

17 - 18 

7. Presentation Update from the Commissioner   

 To receive a presentation from the Commissioner 
 

 

7.a  Violence against Women and Girls 19 - 24 

7.b  DRIVE project update following a presentation at 
the House of Lords in May on the work in South 
Wales 

 

7.c  Criminal Justice Blueprints i. Women Offenders  ii 
Youth Offending 

25 - 34 

7.d  Serious Violent Crime Update 35 - 38 

7.e  Performance and Demand 39 - 54 

8. Mid-Year Financial Assessment by the Treasurer   

 To receive update 
 

 

9. Oversight of Complaints   

 To consider the attached report 
 

55 - 60 

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 

 



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel 

  
COMPOSITION: M Jehu  (Co-optee) (Vice Chair in the Chair) 
  
 Councillors: 

B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), T Davies (Cardiff 
Council), R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees 
(Neath Port Talbot CBC), C Richards (City and County 
of Swansea), R Young (Bridgend CBC), J Charles (Vale 
of Glamorgan CBC) and E Kirchner (City and County of 
Swansea) 
 
Co-optees: 
M Jones 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 

SOUTH WALES POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL MEETING 

 

TUESDAY, 29TH JANUARY, 2019 
 

PRESENT:  
 

Councillor R Smith (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC) (Chair) 

 Councillors: 
B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot CBC), R Young (Bridgend 
CBC), J Charles (Vale of Glamorgan CBC) and E Kirchner (City 
and County of Swansea) 

  
Co-optees: 
M Jehu (Vice-Chair) 
 
Outside Bodies: 
Mr A Michael, Police and Crime Commissioner 
Mr M Jukes, Chief Constable 
Mr L Jones, Chief of Staff 
Mr U Hussain, Chief Finance Officer for South Wales Police 
Mr P Curran, Chief Finance Officer for the Office of the PCC 
Claire Biddlecombe, Police Federation 
 
Officers:  
S Jones (Senior Solicitor) 
M Hemmings (Democratic Services Officer) 

  
 

ITEM 
NO. 

AGENDA MATTER DECISION 

24   Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillors C 
Richards (Swansea), S Jago (Merthyr Tydfil), Mr Martyn 
Jones (Co-optee), Emma Wools (Deputy Commissioner), 
Steve Treharne (SWP). 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4a



 
 
 
 
   

25   Declarations of Interest Councillor B Bowen-Thompson advised that the Charity she 
works for receives funding and therefore wished to declare 
an interest. 

26   Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s) 

Amendment on Page 3 of minutes to read Emma Wools not 
Emma Wills. 
 
Amendment on Page 4 of minutes to read Richard Lewis 
not Richard Davies. 
 
Resolved that:- 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held 11

th
 December 2018 be 

accepted as a true record subject to the amendments listed 
above. 

27   Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
2019 - 2023 (Cover 
Report) 

The Chair welcomed Alun Michael, Police and Crime 
Commissioner and colleagues from the Commissioner’s 
office to the Meeting. 
 
The Commissioner referred to the Police Precept 
Consultation 2019-2020 document and advised that the 
information was based on 1,619 responses and gave detail 
on the following:- 
 

- How received  
- Age 
- Gender 
- Sexual Orientation 
- Ethnicity  
- Religion or Belief 
- Disability 

 
Further information was provided on:- 
 

 Geographical footprint 

 Survey Results (police precept awareness/policing 
priorities) 

 Police Precept Contributions 
 
Further information was then presented detailing by the 
Chief Constable, Mr Curran and Mr Hussain on:- 
 

- Mid Term Financial Strategy 
- Financial background 
- Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-23 
- Final Police Settlement 2019-20  
- Police Settlement 2019-20 
- Police Precept 
- Cumulative Impact of Central Government 

Decisions on Police Funding 
- Police Officer number 1979 – 2018 
- Public Perceptions of Policing 2018 
- Budget requirement  
- Medium Term Financial Projections 
- Unresolved Funding Inequalities  
- Precept History  
- Precept Increase 

Page 6



 
 
 
 
   

- Quality of Service 
- Demand and Challenges 

 
The following questions and comments were raised by the 
Panel Members:- 
 

 What is the geographical breakdown of 
respondents? 

 Clarity sought on (page 33) whether 2023 should 
read 2022? 

 RCT referred to as Rhondda and Merthyr Tydfil 
referred to as Merthyr, could this be amended in 
future reports? 

 
The Chair referred to a letter sent to Rt Hon Yvette Cooper 
MP from Rt Hon Savid Javid MP, Home Secretary.  
Detailed discussion took place regarding the content of the 
letter.   
 
A panel member requested that this letter be circulated to 
members. 
 
Mr Michael and the Officers then left the Meeting to enable 
the Panel to consider the recommendation. 
 
Considerable debate then ensued on the recommendation 
as contained within the report with the Panel. 
 
Simon Jones reminded the Committee on the voting 
procedures. 
 
A vote was then taken on whether to Veto the 
recommendation of 10.3% and the number required to Veto 
was not reached.  Therefore it was  
 
Resolved that: 
 
There is an increase in the Precept to £126,490,672 which 
is £257.52 (for a Band D property) for 2019/20 and a 
10.28% or £24.00 per annum increase with the caviat that 
there is no reduction in front line services. 
 
Mr Michael and the Officers re-entered the Meeting and 
were advised by the Chair of the decision of the Panel. 
 

28   Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
2019 - 2023 

To receive the Report. 

29   South Wales Police & 
Crime Plan 2019 - 21 
(Cover Report) 

Mr Alun Michael referred Panel to the South Wales Police & 
Crime Plan 2010 – 21 Executive Summary and hoped the 
Panel found the document practical and useful.   
 
The following topics were raised and discussed by Panel:- 
 

 Changing attitudes of Police  

 Operational Policing  

Page 7



 
 
 
 
   

 Partnership Work  

 Brexit 

 Women’s Pathfinder 

 ACEs 

 Recruitment of Police Officers 

 Mental Health/Control Room 
 
Recommended that: 
 
The Panel endorse and approve the amended Police and 
Crime Plan. 

30   South Wales Police & 
Crime Plan 2019 - 21 

To receive the Report. 

31   Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent. 

 
 

 

Page 8



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 

SOUTH WALES POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL MEETING 

 
TUESDAY, 23RD APRIL, 2019 

 

 
PRESENT:  
 

M Jehu (Chair) 

 Councillors: 
R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot 
CBC), C Richards (City and County of Swansea), S Jago and 
J Charles (Vale of Glamorgan CBC) 

  
Co-optees: 
M Jones 
 
Outside Bodies: 
(Alun Michael (Police and Crime Commissioner) 
Emma Wools (Deputy Commissioner) 
Lee Jones (Chief of Staff) 
 
Officers:  
S Jones (Senior Solicitor) 
L Jones (MTCBC - Minutes) 
 
Member of staff from BBC Wales on Line in attendance. 

  
 

ITEM 
NO. 

AGENDA MATTER DECISION 

32   Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor 
Robert Smith, Councillor Bernie Bowen-Thomson, 
Councillor Timothy Davies, Councillor Erika Kirchner 
Not in attendance; Councillor Richard Young 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4b



 
 
 
 
   

33   Declarations of Interest Martyn Jones gave advice to Commission On Justice 
In Wales. 
Mel Jehu advised family members are members of the 
Police Force but that does not affect his role. 

34   Interim Financial 
Report for 2019/2020 

Alun Michael advised this is an interim report. 
Alun Michael read through report and addressed the 
following items; 

 Headline Facts & Figures of the South Wales 
Police & Crime Commissioner’s Operations; 

 The 2019-2020 Police Grant Settlement; 

 There has not been an increase in what the 
Home Office provides; 

 Key Facts; 
 
Mel Jehu asked because of the issues that have been 
pushed our way will it fundamentally change 
objectives of your Police Plan this year. 
Alun Michael responded no.   
Mel Jehu thanked the Commissioner for the report. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
A more detailed report to be brought back to the Panel 
with a profile on how to meet the £7.2m savings during 
this financial year. 

35   Presentations  

35a   IRIS (Identification to 
Improve Safety) 
Implementation in 
South Wales 

Alun Michael explained the background to the 
presentation. 
Peter Rees asked were the statistics based on 
violence against women, as the report did not mention 
men. 
Alun Michael responded it did not, the primary 
statistical target was women, but not exclusively. 
Peter Rees added there was not a refuge for men in 
South Wales. 
Christine Richards supported the work being 
undertaken and stated that the GP training element 
should be extended to all GPs and that this should be 
flagged up at a higher level. 
Alun Michael responded agreed and stated that the 
impetus from research in Bristol was to have this as a 
basic requirement through the Health Service.  
Training is available for other staff as well. 
Rhys Lewis asked has there been a degree of cultural 
resistance. 
Alun Michael responded that there was positive 
engagement throughout the service. 
Emma Wools added that IRIS was providing support 
to professionals. 
Sherelle Jago asked if the Police make referrals to 

Page 10



 
 
 
 
   

Social Services in circumstances where there are 
children living in a home where there is a report of 
violence. 
Alun Michael responded yes, and that he was a strong 
supporter of the MASH. 
Martin Jones commented domestic violence is often 
linked to dementia and stated that Magistrates were 
concerned that perpetrators may be short circuiting 
the court system. 
Emma Wools added there was far more work to be 
done regarding information sharing. 
Alun Michael stated that he found engagement with 
Magistrates very positive. 
Peter Rees asked who determined what happens to 
people with mental health issues. 
Alun Michael responded that is done by GPs with a 
referral made by Health. 
Christine Richards stated that she would raise this 
matter with the Leader of Swansea. 
 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The contents of the presentation be noted.  

35b   Tackling Violence 
Against Women and 
Girls 

Emma Wools explained background to presentation. 
 
Strategic Commitment 
 
Setting out the VAWG portfolio has been a strategic 
commitment for the commissioner since the start of 
the first ever South Wales Police Plan for Tackling 
Violence against Women and Girls Strategy 2014-17 
in partnership with the force. 

 A review was carried out from the first strategy 
in order to incorporate the learning and assist 
in the new planning process 

 The second strategy is currently being 
formulated which will incorporate commitment 
of our wider partners 

 Links identified between VAWDASV agenda 
and other key policy areas 

 
Developed through: 

 Wide consultation with partners and survivors 

 Ensuring alignment with local level strategic 
plans  

 Prepare  - Enhanced Collaboration 
 Prevent – Early Identification 
 Protect – Safeguarding 
 Pursue – Responding to perpetrators 

 
 

Page 11



 
 
 
 
   

Christine Richards asked if this was on the agenda to 
go into schools and how were children being targeted. 
Emma Wools responded there was a significant Police 
presence in schools, and that a review of the schools 
program had been commissioned.  She stated that 
they were looking at many different ways to engage 
with local education providers to be able to intervene 
early. 
Christine Richards added the phrase ‘joined up’ was 
very important as it was instilling into all children they 
have a voice and a right to be heard. 
Peter Rees asked if they were having dialogue with 
School Governors so that this was on the agenda of 
every school governor meeting. 
Sherelle Jago added that prevention and raising 
awareness was key.   
Emma Wools advised Keith Towler was chairing a 
Board review of Youth Services on behalf of Welsh 
Government. 
Mel Jehu added that the meaningful words of your first 
plan have been put into meaningful action.  The Panel 
fully supports all the work that is going on. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The Panel fully supported the work being undertaken 

to tackle violence against women and girls. 

35c   Combating Violent 
Crime 

Emma Wills gave a presentation 
Three approaches have been identified to tackle 
serious violence amongst young people; 

 One to one direct intervention and holistic 
support (St Giles Trust) 

 Positive activities through sporting intervention 
(Street Games) 

 Education and awareness (Crimestoppers) 
 

It is hoped to launch the framework at a conference on 
23rd May. 
 
Martyn Jones asked if Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act for Local Authorities was being utilised. 
Emma Wools responded there was already legislation 
that put duties on partners and that was as strong as it 
needs to be.  She confirmed that they had invested in 
a member of staff to work with Community Safety 
Partnerships on particular priority areas. 
Alun Michael added the Welsh Government is taking a 
positive approach to Community Safety and each PSB 
and LA across South Wales had agreed to feed into 
the PSB. 
 
 

Page 12



 
 
 
 
   

Resolved that: 
 
That the work being undertaken in relation to 

combating violent crime be noted. 

35d   Welsh Government 
and Ministry of Justice 
Initiatives on Women 
Offenders and Youth 
offending 

Emma Wools gave the presentation. 
Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach 
Commissioned Service 

 An early intervention and prevention service 

 A function serving to join up agencies and 
stages of the system through; 

 Supporting the transition arrangements and 
providing continuity throughout the system 

 Coordinating the multi-agency response to 
support where more than one agency is 
involved with a service user – supported by 
HMPPS coordinator / integrator role 
 

Two Government Ministers agreed there should be a 
blueprint on; 

 Tackling youth offending 

 Women offenders pathfinder blueprint  
 
Mel Jehu thanked Alun Michael and that the 
presentation had been useful in bringing into context 
the work the Commissioner was doing and the impact 
it was having and the value to the community. 
 
Women going to prison was having a huge impact. 
Peter Rees added that as there was not a prison for 
women in Wales we should be looking at addressing 
that. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
That the work being undertaken in relation to on 
women offenders and youth offending be noted. 
 

36   Work Plan 2019/2020 Simon Jones took the Panel through the Work 
Program Report and advised of the proposed dates for 
the forthcoming year; 
4th June 2019 (Annual Meeting) 
17th September 2019 (Annual Report) 
10th December 2019 
30th January 2020 (Precept meeting); 
24th April 2020 
4th June 2020 (Annual meeting) 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The dates and work program be accepted. 
 

Page 13



 
 
 
 
   

37   Update on WLGA PCP 
Training Event on 26 
March 2019 

Simon Jones explained this is a yearly event 
organised by WLGA.  There were workshops and an 
opportunity to network.  Four members of the panel 
attended which was disappointing but consistent with 
other Panels.  It is hoped we will have better 
attendance next time. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
Simon Jones to send out notes of training day. 

38   Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

None 

 
 

 

Page 14



REPORT TO 

THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

4th June 2019 

 

Appointment of Chair 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To advise the Panel of the requirement to appoint a Chair for the South Wales Police and 
Crime Panel (the Panel). 

 

Background / Information 

1.1  The Rules of Procedure for the Panel state that the Panel shall hold an annual 

meeting between the 1 April and the 30 June each year and that the first item of 

business on the agenda for the annual meeting shall be the appointment of a Chair 

for the ensuing year. 

1.2  The following is an extract from the Panels Rules of Procedure with regard to the 

appointment of the Chair and the Vice Chair. A separate report is agended for the 

appointment of the Vice Chair. 

1.0 Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair 

1.1  The Chair of the Police and Crime Panel will be appointed at the first meeting 

of the Panel following the appointment of members to the Panel, and 

thereafter at the first meeting of the municipal year of the Panel. 

1.2  The Chair will be drawn from amongst the Elected Members of the Panel and 

decided by a vote supported by a majority of the whole membership of the 

Panel. 

1.3  The Vice Chair of the Police and Crime Panel will be appointed at the first 

meeting of the Panel following the appointment of members to the Panel 

and thereafter at the first meeting of the municipal year of the Panel. 

1.4  The Vice Chair will be drawn from amongst the Elected Members in the first 

year of the Panel and selected from all the members thereafter. The 

appointment will be decided by a vote supported by a majority of the whole 

membership of the Panel. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



1.5  In the event of the resignation of the Chair or removal of the Chair, a new 

Chair will be appointed and will be drawn from amongst the Elected 

Members of the Panel. 

1.6  In the event of the resignation of the Vice Chair or removal of the Vice Chair, 

a new Vice Chair will be appointed and will be drawn from amongst all the 

members of the Panel. 

1.7  The Panel may remove the position of Chair by a vote supported by a 

majority of the whole membership of the Panel. 

1.8  The Panel may remove the position of Vice Chair by a vote supported by a 

majority of the whole membership of the Panel. 

1.9  The Panel will elect a person from amongst the elected members of the 

Panel, to preside at a meeting if the chair and vice chair are not present. 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s) that:- 

2.1  The Panel appoints a Chair until its Annual General Meeting in 2020 

 

Simon Jones 

Senior Solicitor, 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 

 

 

Page 16



 

 

REPORT TO 

THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

4th June 2019 

Appointment of Vice Chair 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To advise the Panel of the requirement to appoint a Vice Chair for the South Wales Police 
and Crime Panel (the Panel). 

 

Background / Information 

1.1  The Rules of Procedure for the Panel state that the Panel shall hold an annual 

meeting between the 1 April and the 30 June each year. The following is an extract 

from the Panels Rules of Procedure with regard to the appointment of the Chair and 

the Vice Chair. This report concerns the appointment of the Vice Chair. 

1.0  Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair 

1.1  The Chair of the Police and Crime Panel will be appointed at the first meeting 

of the Panel following the appointment of members to the Panel, and 

thereafter at the first meeting of the municipal year of the Panel. 

1.2  The Chair will be drawn from amongst the Elected Members of the Panel and 

decided by a vote supported by a majority of the whole membership of the 

Panel. 

1.3  The Vice Chair of the Police and Crime Panel will be appointed at the first 

meeting of the Panel following the appointment of members to the Panel 

and thereafter at the first meeting of the municipal year of the Panel. 

1.4  The Vice Chair will be drawn from amongst the Elected Members in the first 

year of the Panel and selected from all the members thereafter. The 

appointment will be decided by a vote supported by a majority of the whole 

membership of the Panel. 

1.5  In the event of the resignation of the Chair or removal of the Chair, a new 

Chair will be appointed and will be drawn from amongst the Elected 

Members of the Panel. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



1.6  In the event of the resignation of the Vice Chair or removal of the Vice Chair, 

a new Vice Chair will be appointed and will be drawn from amongst all the 

members of the Panel. 

1.7  The Panel may remove the position of Chair by a vote supported by a 

majority of the whole membership of the Panel. 

1.8  The Panel may remove the position of Vice Chair by a vote supported by a 

majority of the whole membership of the Panel. 

1.9  The Panel will elect a person from amongst the Elected members of the 

Panel, to preside at a meeting if the chair and vice chair are not present. 

 

2.0 Recommendation(s) that:- 

2.1 The Panel appoints a Vice Chair until its Annual General Meeting in 2020 

 

Simon Jones 

Senior Solicitor, 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Page 18



ITEM A 
 

  

 

 

 

Joint Strategy for tackling Violence against Women and Girls, Domestic 

Abuse and Sexual Violence 2019 - 2024 

There can be no doubt that violence against women and girls is a deep-seated 

problem in communities across South Wales and that achieving change is a 

significant long-term project for the police and our partners.  I set out a 

commitment to tackle the issue when I was first elected and both the current 

Chief Constable and his predecessor have made it a priority within operational 

policing.  We have been helped by the parallel commitment by Welsh 

Government and the high level of commitment by members of our respective 

teams and the many partners with whom they work. 

In 2014, the then Chief Constable Peter Vaughan and I published our Joint 

Strategy to tackle Violence against Women and Girls, projecting the need to 

work consistently over the next four years if we were to make a real difference.   

The comments in the attached paper provide clear evidence that the 

commitment we have shown really is making a difference, with each 

incremental step helping victims and survivors or helping to prevent violence, 

but with so much still to be done we decided that it was time for a serious stock-

take and to set out our strategy and commitments for the next five years. 

There is no doubt about the size of the challenge posed by Domestic Violence, 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.  The statistics of demand before the Panel 

show that this is a volume crime, while the situations that have to be tackled are 

often hidden from plain sight, highly complex and sensitive.  

 We are developing a better understanding of the causes of violence, with the 

insights from the Public Health Wales research on Adverse Childhood 

Experiences (ACEs) showing very clearly the inter-generational impact of 

violence and abuse.   

Each incident has to be dealt with on its merits, with violence and abuse on men 

or between same-sex partners or between generations each dealt with in terms 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7a



  

 

  

 

of the harm that is done and the protection and support needed by individuals. 

But we have to accept the factual reality that women are by far the largest group 

of victims and suffer disproportionately the most serious forms of violence and 

even death.  So our approach has to be based on clear evidence and facts, and 

on listening to the voices of victims and survivors, with a good understanding of 

links to related issues such as hate crime, the isolation of many within BME 

communities, the specific needs of disabled and elderly people and the specific 

needs of children. 

When Professor Jonathan Shepherd came to see me some 25 years ago, he was 

driven by the start fact that the injuries he saw in his practice as a clinician came 

in two forms.  His in-tray from car accidents was going down in number and 

seriousness while his in-tray from violence was going up.  The explanation for 

the first was that for 50 years successive Governments had taken incremental 

steps to make people safer in their cars – seat belts, the breathalyser, better 

brakes, tyres, airbags, traffic calming, etc.  He asked “Why can’t we take the 

same consistent incremental approach to violence against the person?” 

It’s a massive frustration that we still have such a lot to do – and arguably that 

we have further to go with all forms of violence against women, domestic 

violence and sexual violence than violence on the streets and in the night-time 

economy – but there has been progress and our first joint strategy has had an 

effect and supported many of our partners in their efforts.  The new strategy 

which is currently in its final draft has been designed with our Partners to work 

in Partnership because together – if we are determined to do so – we can 

achieve more than we can achieve alone.  That’s the Co-operative Principle that 

underpins the South Wales Police approach. 

So we must be impatient for progress while recognising that we are tackling 

issues that have been deep-seated in our Society and in our Communities for 

generations.  Laws are important, and we should celebrate the legislative 

leadership from Welsh Government, but “Laws rarely prevent what they forbid”.  

Similarly, these are problems that policing alone cannot solve – but we can make 

a significant contribution and that’s what our Joint Strategy will set out. 

The comments we have received (below) provide significant encouragement for 

the determination that Chief Constable Matt Jukes and I share. 

Alun Michael, May 2019 

 

Page 20



  

 

  

 

Annex 1 :  Comments from Partners and Survivors 

“To be able to organise getting South Wales Police into a room with survivors and victims 

who have yet to be heard, and share their experience of using the police with regards to 

domestic abuse, was just fantastic. It was so powerful and insightful to both the police and 

the survivors/victims.  The only way we will stamp out domestic abuse and violence is by 

working together and listening to the unmediated voices of the survivors/victims.”  

Campaigner and survivor Rachel Williams 

 

“Since 2016 the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner’s Victims Fund has been key 

to resourcing the Welsh Women’s Aid survivor engagement project SEEdS, as well as 

members of the Commissioner Team working in partnership with WWA to offer a range of 

opportunities for SEEdS participants to engage with key figures enabling them to get their 

voices heard on a number of crucial issues. We hope that we will be able to continue to 

work in partnership with the Commissioner’s office to shape services, improve the outcomes 

for victims of abuse and sexual violence and ensure that interventions are effective and 

informed by those with direct experience.”  

Kay Lemon, Welsh Women’s Aid 

In March Welsh Women’s Aid, in collaboration with the National Union of Journalists Training Cymru 

Wales and HTV Wales, organised a media workshop entitled "Reporting on Violence Against 

Women" which brought together journalists, programme makers and survivors of violence.  Two 

SEEdS participants were supported to sit on a multi-disciplinary panel to answer questions posed 

by the media representatives present. A total of 32 people attended and Anna Wyn Roberts, Project 

Manager for the National Union of Journalists Training Cymru Wales, commented on the imapct of 

the SEEdS participants’ involvement:- 

“I would say that there was a significant impact. It was an eye-opener for many of the journalists 

present to hear how the survivors viewed a certain kind of portrayal and language used in the media. 

e.g. the use of 'survivor' rather than 'victim'; their dislike of stock images of despair and hopelessness. 

Although the event didn't focus on these survivors' past experiences of violence they were mentioned 

in brief and even in brief it was shocking and sobering to hear it directly from the survivors - and 

hugely impactful. They spoke eloquently and directly and what came over very strongly was the sense 

that they are now living happy lives, giving hope to others going through a similar experience.” 

Journalist at the event 

“The confidence and skills I have developed since joining SEEdS has enabled me to return to work 

after a period of uncertainty and lack of self-belief.” 

Survivor A October 2017 

“I wanted you to know that personally SEEdS has helped me in my job. They feedback to me that I 

have grown in the last two years…Suddenly I have a voice here too.  To the extent that they are 

Page 21



  

 

  

 

considering further training for me to specialise and make my hours permanent. I feel SEEdS has 

helped my confidence and my self-worth and my work now sees me as someone moving forward 

and worth investing in. I can’t tell you the difference this has made to me” 

Survivor B July 2018 

“For the first time since I ran from my husband with my children 7 years ago I  have felt a positive 

shift from fighting alone and having no voice alone to changing to driving together to change services 

and have a positive voice where we are listened too” 

Survivor C October 2017 

“Not only has this empowered seeds survivors but it has also given us rest from the intensity of 

surviving to comfortably and rationally see what needs to be addressed and how to do so.  The work 

in itself seems to be a lifelong process and once the movement of accountability has started its needs 

to be supported as it gathers momentum.  It’s also needs to be monitored and evaluated in order to 

sustain itself.”  

Gauri Taylor-Nayar, Cardiff Methodist Community Choir 

 

“Working with the PCC has enabled us to deliver services across Swansea and make a difference to 

the lives of people we support. Having support from and working in partnership and collaboration 

means we are able to deliver services that are more innovative and evidence based which has 

strengthened our response to VAWDASV issues.  I am pleased to see that the PCC had continue to 

see VAWDASV as a priority and I look forward to working with the Team in the future.”  

 

Ali Morris, VAWDASV Coordinator, Swansea Council  

 

 

Annex 2 :  STATEMENT OF VALUES 
Our learning from the collaborative Whole Systems Approach programme of work to date 

has been translated into the below values, designed to provide the foundation for policing 

and partnership working when seeking to develop and implement VAWDASV policies, 

programmes and practices. Each value is considered to be of equal value and importance, 

and have been endorsed by partners, including survivors:  

1. Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence are fundamental 

violations of Human Rights and will not be tolerated in any community or culture. 

2. Preventing violence and abuse is the responsibility of the whole community and 

requires a shared understanding that it must not be tolerated under any 

circumstance. 

3. The safety and well-being of those affected by Violence against Women, 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence will be the first priority of any response. 

4. Perpetrators of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

will be held accountable for their behaviour and acts that constitute a criminal 

offence will be dealt with accordingly. 

5. Collaborative working across South Wales Police will be based on and reflect the 

following principles: Openness, constructive challenge, clear and effective 

decision making. 

Page 22



  

 

  

 

6. Victim, survivor and community voices will be at the heart of shaping the work 

that we do. 

7. Victims and survivors will not be held responsible for the perpetrator’s behaviour. 

8. Children have unique vulnerabilities in situations of violence and abuse, and all 

efforts must be made to protect them from short-term and long-term harm. 

9. We will seek to share learning and build and evidence base to inform decision 

making, and invest in evaluation of innovation and seek ways to develop a 

sustainable specialist provision for victims and survivors and their families. 

10. We will work with partners to ensure that we recognise the links between other 

work streams and Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence. 
 

ANNEX 3 :  Joint Strategic Priorities for tackling Violence against Women and 

Girls, 2019-2024 

This strategy sets out four key priority areas for action:  

• Enhanced Collaboration: How we will work together to deliver a whole systems 

approach to preventing violence against women and girls in all its forms 

• Prevention and Early Intervention: How partners will think about the long-term 

impact of decisions and work to keep people safe, healthy and well 

• Safeguarding: How we will develop existing safeguarding arrangements seeking 

ways to protect all victims, wherever they may be.  

• Perpetrators: How we will increase our focus on the behaviour of the perpetrator 

(in parallel with supporting survivors of abuse) to better hold perpetrators to 

account for the consequences of their actions, offering opportunities to change 

their behaviour through a range of interventions 

The action plan below adopts the widely-recognised “Four P’s” framework of Prepare, 

Prevent, Protect, and Pursue and aligns each of these against the priority areas below. 

Prepare:  ensuring the best possible governance, collaboration and commissioning of 

evidence-based models and innovation, understand available resource and 

effectively targeting it, involving those affected to ensure the best outcomes  

Prevent: intervening at the earliest opportunity to prevent problems from occurring 

or getting worse 

Protect: safeguarding victims and potential victims from harm and providing services  

Pursue:  placing an active focus on the behaviour of perpetrators and consequences 

of that behaviour (whilst maintaining a focus on victims) 

The following sections focus on the priority areas for action, setting objectives under-pinned 

by examples of the activities to be undertaken in the short and medium term. This strategy 

will be supported by an annual action plan developed in collaboration with partners 

ensuring the most contemporary evidence and learning is driving our actions. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Our aspirations are to:

Support women to live crime free, positive and healthy lives, improving well-being 
and making communities safer.

Reduce the number of women in the system by intervening earlier to keep them 
safe and address the vulnerabilities that often lead to crime.

Deliver a bold ambitious approach with transformative, sustainable services that 
are distinct to Wales and locally-led, building on and learning from the successful 
Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach model. 

Create safe environments in which children and women are protected/guarded 
from harm and supported to thrive.

Integrate services to offer targeted support for women, from start to finish, 
recognising the far-reaching, long-term impact resulting from the imprisonment of 
women when there are more effective alternatives to tackle the causes of offending 
behaviour drawing on relevant research and data.

Work with the Youth Justice Board and partners to share learning that can be 
adopted for girls under the age of 18 and work together to ensure continuity of 
interventions in respect of young women who transition into adult services.

Set the standard for future work and cooperation between the Welsh Government, 
Ministry of Justice and partners, applying the principles here to adopting a similar 
approach to adult males at risk of offending. 

The Whole-system Approach will focus on:

Early Intervention & Prevention In addition to working with partners to tackle root causes of crime: 
• Diverting women, where appropriate, away from crime and into women-centred, community-based, sustainable 

support services that meet their needs
• Explore options for trauma-informed services which can best meet the needs of vulnerable women, and families, 

affected by Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and at risk of entering the system, learning from the Enhanced 
Case Management (ECM) approach. 

Courts & sentencing Building confidence in alternatives to short-term custody and remand by: 
• Working with courts & sentencers to build a clearer understanding of community services available to directly tackle 

causes of offending
• Training front-line professionals to recognise & respond to women and families experiencing trauma. 

Community-based solutions Supporting women, including those at risk of offending, to engage with services in the 
community by:
• Exploring a range of options for secure, safe and reliable accommodation for women in Wales
• Developing women-focused services, including meaningful working relationships with a trusted key professional, 

building strengths and recognising the trauma or adverse events women may have experienced, understanding and 
addressing how this relates to their offending behaviour. 

• Embedding clear referral pathways and individualised, sequenced plans for vulnerable women in the community to 
provide interventions, by fully trained, skilled professionals in a timely manner. 

Custody and Resettlement Supporting women in custody and resettlement back into the community by:
• Working with rehabilitative services to deliver effective pre and post-release interventions in prisons where women 

from Wales are located
• Establishing services to improve and maintain links with children and families

Research and Evaluation Further develop a Welsh evidence-base, with reference to existing national and international 
evidence of what works, to better understand the distinct needs and vulnerabilities of women who offend by:
• Evaluating the Women’s Pathfinder whole system approach to inform future design and delivery of services for women 

at risk of offending;
• Working with the Early Action Together Policing and Partnership Programme to research impact of ACEs on women in 

Wales and how trauma-informed services can best meet the needs of vulnerable women and families.  

Our guiding principles

A focus on Victims: together with seeing perpetrators brought to justice, Victims 
tell us they want to know this will never happen again. We are learning all the time 
about models of reducing reoffending. This evidence-based, innovative approach 
is guided by our desire to:
• ensure fewer people are victims of crime
• highlight that women who offend are often victims themselves – as outlined 

in the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, Sexual Violence (Wales) 
Act 2015

• understand the ripple-effect of crime in creating victims outside those directly 
involved

Welsh Government’s well-being objectives and cross-cutting priorities in the 
national strategy Prosperity for All, maximise the contribution of partners to the 
well-being goals. 

A Public Health approach applying the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 Sustainable Development principle of improving Economic, Social, 
Cultural, Environmental well-being using the five ways of working:

Long-term: 
breaking intergenerational cycles of crime, creating a fairer society with more 
equal outcomes for all
Prevention: 
safeguarding women and children, tackling root causes of offending behaviour
Collaboration: 
working together to deliver transformative services
Integration: 
understanding the links across policy areas and how this approach can improve 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of our communities
Involving people – ensuring the right approach to delivering effective services by 
involving those affected (victims, women, children and communities)

Women-focussed, gender based and trauma-informed, responding to the specific, 
individualised needs of this diverse population (rather than as one homogeneous 
group) to reduce reoffending.

What success looks like

 Achieving our ambitions to reduce crime, make communities safer and ease 
demand on services, such as policing and health, will make a lasting contribution 
to building the Wales we want: prosperous and secure, healthy and active, 
ambitious and learning, united and connected. 

Our shared success means children will have a better start in life, reducing the 
impact of adverse childhood experiences such as domestic abuse or having a 
mother in custody.   

Women and children will live in a safe and secure home and as a result will 
be less likely to commit crime.  Women will have the skills they need to look 
after themselves and their children, enabling them to live rewarding, fulfilled and 
positive lives within their communities. 

Our joined-up approach will result in better emotional, physical health and 
wellbeing, building positive, supportive relationships within families and 
strengthening our communities. 

Sometimes people find themselves in a bad situation, life can spiral out of control. It’s good to give 
people a second chance because just one mistake can change your life

I need to be a more confident parent so it doesn’t have a knock-on impact on the children as well, 
they need help too

...just to be treated like a human being and you know, just listened to and have someone there for us

The All Wales Criminal Justice Board will oversee delivery of the Blueprint implementation plan through specialist programme and advisory groups commissioned by the All Wales Women in Justice Group, driving delivery at local levels through Local Criminal Justice Boards

The minority of offenders in England and Wales are women, yet many of these women are 
victims of crime themselves, often having experienced physical or emotional abuse. Baroness 
Corston’s Report, Review of Women with Particular Vulnerabilities in the Criminal Justice System 
(2007) identified that women can present as extremely vulnerable with a range of complex needs 
that have been found to be distinct from the needs of men who commit crime. Involvement 
in the Criminal Justice System can have far-reaching and long-lasting effects on the women 
themselves, their families and the communities in which they live.  The challenges they face 

are at risk of being exacerbated by a short custodial sentence (often for low risk offences) that 
can disrupt important social bonds with children and family members, contributing to social 
exclusion and having an adverse impact on future generations.  The challenge is to provide a 
joined-up approach that acknowledges the gender-specific needs of women, promotes positive 
wellbeing and supports successful long-term outcomes to reduce reoffending. 

To achieve this, Welsh Government, UK Government and policing in Wales are working 

together with justice partners to develop Blueprints for delivery of Female Offending and Youth 
Justice services.  This Blueprint for Female Offending sets out the ambition to accelerate the 
transformation of services to create a fairer, more equal society with better outcomes and justice 
for all. It will create sustainable community-based solutions to keep women and communities 
safe and free from criminal behaviour. 

Female Offending Blueprint for Wales 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 7c



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Thematic Area Recommendation (milestone) Recommendation (milestone) Timescale

Governance Establish governance arrangements that enable the Women in Justice Programme to effectively deliver on 
strategic priorities and lead on development of new initiatives 

• Development of Women in Justice Programme Brief & Ministry of Justice national concordat (following 
on publication of the MoJ Female Offending Strategy in Summer 2018).

• Drawing on the expertise of the All Wales Women in Justice Group in establishing partnership & contract 
management meetings, & task & finish groups to take forward relevant actions, including the engagement 
of women with lived experience. 

• Establish links with local boards across Wales to support delivery

Short term

Early intervention & prevention Take forward recommendation of the Women’s Pathfinder Diversion Scheme Evaluation (University of South 
Wales, 2017) to implement Diversion Initiatives for women across Wales

• Roll out diversion via Women’s Pathfinder Whole Systems Approach (WSA) Service Delivery Model 
across South Wales & Gwent, & Checkpoint Model across Dyfed Powys and North Wales. 

• Establish consistent out of court disposal options for women across Wales, including a mechanism for 
sharing learning and best practice from local diversionary initiatives.

• Work with all providers including statutory, non-statutory, commissioners and voluntary sector to 
explore the full range of funding, polices and processes and identify ways to deliver prevention and 
early intervention with greater join up of support to service users.”

Medium-term

Develop a holistic assessment to be offered to women who are not eligible for pre-court diversion at the 
earliest possible stage to identify the best means of supporting and meeting their needs.

• Agree non-statutory holistic assessment that will be completed with women (eligible for Diversion or not) 
at first point of contact with the CJS. 

• In recognition that domestic abuse can be a driver to female offending, consideration will be given to 
how early intervention and prevention services can provide specialist services for women who disclose 
they are victims of Domestic Abuse at the first point of contact with the CJS.

Medium-term

Establish initiatives to better support girls, & potentially young women, at greatest risk of offending & therefore 
entering the CJS

• Explore opportunities to work with Education partners & other relevant services to identify opportunities 
for early intervention and prevention. 

• Explore opportunities to work in collaboration with Public Health Wales under their Creating a Healthier, 
Happier and Fairer Wales Strategic Plan 2017-20 to increase understanding of adversities facing women 
and girls and the impact on their life course.

• Align work with the youth justice blueprint to ensure that the needs of girls and young women at risk 
of offending are appropriately considered in prevention and early intervention service plans. This will 
include ensuring that the complex vulnerabilities of females are reflected and incorporate learning from 
the Enhanced Case Management (ECM) approach piloted by Youth Justice.

Long-term

Improved partnership between devolved and non-devolved services to deliver youth justice in Wales is a shared priority of UK and Welsh Governments.

Female Offending Implementation Plan  

P
age 27



Courts & sentencing Develop a clear understanding of current services available to women involved in the CJS in Wales, delivered 
by both statutory and non-statutory partners (devolved and non-devolved) in the community to reduce short 
term sentencing & remand

• Take into consideration findings from analysis of current sentencing trends (including Imprisonment in 
Wales: A Fact file Report undertaken by Dr R. Jones, 2018) across Wales to inform consultations with 
the courts and judiciary, that will seek to raise awareness of the needs of women, the services available, 
and in turn increase the confidence of sentencers in the options available. 

• Work in partnership with Community Justice Cymru and wider voluntary sector to engage with courts 
across Wales to highlight good practice and options available in the community.

Medium-term

Develop pre-sentence pathway that addresses the needs of women who come into contact with the Criminal 
Justice System

• Establish referral process in police custody or on remand for referring women not eligible for Diversion 
into pre-sentence support. 

• Roll out of consistent use of Pre-Sentence Report checklist and EPF Tool across National Probation 
Service court establishments in Wales. 

• Ensure that Information is made available at court for those summoned to court. Consider how women 
who are summoned directly to court are able to access opportunities to address their financial, childcare 
and wider support needs.

• In light of research undertaken by Dr Shona Minson (Safeguarding Children when Sentencing Mothers, 
2018), explore options for how family circumstances informing sentencing proposals, including 
consideration for Child Impact Assessments (or Dependant Impact Assessments) prior to sentencing.

Medium-term

Establish range of suitable community alternatives to custody & remand • Consideration of the use intensive alternatives to custody & bail options to address issues around 
accommodation, substance misuse and finance/debt. 

• Explore Electronic Monitoring sentencing & bail options, including use of other new technologies as 
alternative to short term custody and remand

• Inform Future Probation & Resettlement Services model and design in relation to support provided to 
those sentenced to short term custody.

• Explore options around Increasing use of community sentence treatment requirements.

Long-term

Community sentences Develop model of trauma-informed Women’s Residential services in Wales, identifying scope, provision of 
services and potential capacity. This includes reviewing the potential for a tiered approach with secure, step 
down and community bed space to house women at different points of the system. 

• Develop a fully costed Business Case for a 24/7 accommodation service model to meet the needs of 
women in Wales, aligning with the commitment in the MoJ Female Offending Strategy for 5 residential 
centres and considering how a network of community-based services may interface with any new 
residential facilities. 

• Explore options for pilot sites to test Housing First model for women & house share project for women 
where universal credit is paid directly to private landlords, with support for these and housing staff to 
understand respond to the complex needs of women in the CJS. 

• Consider options for high risk women including establishing Approved Premises for women in Wales.

Long-term

Establish Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach Commissioned service across Southern Wales 
(South Wales and Gwent) from Autumn 2019

• Reward contract to successful provider to deliver Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach and 
18-25 Early Intervention service delivery model.

• Oversee contract implementation and commencement of service.
• Appoint HMPPS Partnership Integration Coordinators to support development of a multi-agency Whole 

System Approach for women who come into contact with the CJS in Wales.

Short-term

Establish training framework for staff working with women who come into contact with the CJS • HMPPS Partnership Integration Coordinators to complete ‘train the trainer’ for MoJ POWER (Positive 
Outcomes for Women Empowerment and Rehabilitation) and Early Action Together training and cascade 
both along with other relevant training (working with other trainers) to partnership front-line multi-agency 
teams.

Medium-term

Establish clear referral pathways for vulnerable women in the community so to provide interventions in a 
timely manner

• Roll out Women’s Pathfinder Multi Agency Case Conference meetings across Wales and so provide 
forums where organisations can share appropriate information and identify services that can meet the 
needs they are working with. 

• Explore options for dedicated staff across statutory services with voluntary sector women centred 
providers to provide safe, trauma-informed environments for women to report to.

Medium-term

P
age 28



Custody & resettlement Establish Prison pathway to support women resettling back to Wales after serving a custodial sentence. • Identify custody SPOCs to link with Women’s Pathfinder commissioned service & establish multi-agency 
referral pathway, for Welsh women in custody pre- & post-release. 

• Consider existing & further research to understand the wider impacts of imprisonment on Welsh women 
& the impact on devolved budgets

• Link to current cross governmental resettlement pathway for women
• Based on the findings of the evaluation of homelessness services to adults in the secure estate 

undertaken by Glyndwr University (2018) commission review into the Priority Need test within the 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014. 

• Develop a Service Level Agreement to ensure equality of access to services for those women from 
Wales serving a custodial sentence in a prison in England.

Medium-term

Work with health partners to ensure health needs of Welsh women are met when release from custody • Work with health partners to ensure health needs of welsh women are met when released from custody.
• Align work developed under the Women in Justice Programme (Inc. Women’s Pathfinder WSA) with 

services being delivered through the Offender Personality Disorder Pathway.
• consider mental health needs in any one stop shop community models of support developed for women 

in CJS

Short-term

Establish services for Welsh women in custody to improve and maintain links with children and families • Undertake review of Lord Farmer report looking into the needs of women and their children/families 
(once published) & incorporate relevant recommendations into Women in Justice programme plan. 

• Explore funding options for projects/services that support women maintain links with their children and 
families (where appropriate) when serving custodial sentence. 

Short-term

System-wide Establish information sharing protocols and enablers that will support delivery of a Whole System Approach 
across each stage of the Criminal Justice System

• Identify opportunities to use technological enablers to develop an infrastructure that ensures effective 
sharing of information across organisations to support the effective management, supervision & support 
of women. 

• Explore options for developing a passport to support which could travel with the woman on her journey 
though the Criminal Justice System. 

• Develop & implement WASPI compliant information-sharing agreements where required.

Long-term

Review services for women who are perpetrators of VAWDASV in the CJS to ensure that they meet their 
specific needs and not duplicates of those offered to male perpetrators

• Work with VAWDASV to undertake scoping exercise to map current provision available for female 
perpetrators at all stages of the Criminal Justice System (including early intervention and prevention, 
community services and those serving a custodial sentence)

Short-term

Develop Communications Plan and materials to support sharing of information and awareness raising of the 
work of the programme going forward

• Publication of Female Offending Blueprint and Implementation Plan
• Develop and implement Women in Justice Summit event plan in conjunction with Clinks, PRT and 

Community Justice Cymru
• Work in partnership with successful provider of the Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach and 

18-25 Early Intervention Service to develop suite of communication materials to inform service users 
and stakeholders of what is being delivered

Short-term

Research & evaluation Develop understanding & evidence base around the Whole System Approach model • Produce plan to evaluate Women’s Pathfinder Whole System Approach service delivery model. 
• Initiate evaluation of Whole System Approach Model across Southern Wales (South Wales and Gwent).

Medium-term

Better understand the distinct needs and vulnerabilities of women who offend across the whole of Wales • Work with Early Action Together Programme to research impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) on women in Wales & how trauma-informed services can best meet related needs.

• Develop understanding behind the offending behaviour of specific cohorts of women (including focus on 
‘Framework to support positive change for those at risk of offending in Wales’ 2018-23 priority areas) to 
inform design & delivery of services. 

• Consider options for designing & implementing an evaluation comparing diversion models across Wales 
& supporting ongoing monitoring. 

• Work with Her Majesty’s Courts & Tribunal Services and HMPPS to better understand the offence profile 
and characteristics of women being sentenced to short term custody.

Medium-term

Timescale Key

Short term 1yr 2019-2020

Medium Term 2yr 2020/21 – 2021/22

Long term 3yrs + 2022/2023

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Our aspirations are to:

Develop a youth justice system which 
treats children with fairness and 
respect and helps them to build on 
their strengths and to make positive 
changes and choices in their lives. 

Support children to live crime free, 
positive and healthy lives, improving 
well-being and making communities 
safer.

Reduce the number of children in the 
youth justice system through effective 
diversion and prevent offending by 
addressing the vulnerabilities that 
often lead to crime.

Reduce re-offending and create safe 
environments in which children are 
protected from harm and supported 
to thrive.

Deliver a bold ambitious approach 
with transformative, sustainable 
services that provide continuity of 
care throughout the system. 

Work with key stakeholders to 
strengthen the integrated partnership 
approach to the delivery of youth 
justice services which prioritises ‘child 
first’ and improves outcomes for 
children. 

The Whole-system Approach will focus on:

Prevention: Targeted prevention activity in Wales should continue to be prioritised through dedicated funding. The intention is to prevent children from entering the criminal justice system, who may not 
yet have offended. We will explore options to: 
• Align preventative services offered to children (including those targeted at reducing the number of looked after children, the prevention of school exclusions and homelessness) with a joint framework 

model and shared risk or intervention trigger factors to improve outcomes for children.
• Develop effective monitoring of prevention activity to demonstrate impact and to align reporting to Welsh Government, Youth Justice Board and Police and Crime Commissioners where possible. 

Pre-Court diversion: Existing models and practice in pre-court diversion are a strength and should continue to be supported and funded because of their proven impact in reducing first time entrants. 
We will explore options to:
• Further develop diversionary practices and a more co-ordinated approach to establish consistent rights-based practice across Wales, including notification between the police and youth offending 

teams when community resolutions are issued. 

Community: Children in the system can experience complex needs including a background of emotional trauma and ACEs. We will scope options to:
• Roll out a trauma-based approach in Wales, which is embedded as systematic practice, starting with the identification of and response to ACEs when children first come to the attention of police.
• Develop the Enhanced Case Management (ECM) approach nationally for complex and high-risk cases, a psychology led, multi-agency approach, enabling effective tailoring and sequencing of 

interventions, recognising the trauma and adverse events children have experienced.
• Align with the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015, to benefit children who have become victims through experiencing or witnessing domestic abuse or 

sexual violence in their home environment and reduce the risk of perpetrating such offences.
• Support the youth justice sector with resources, training and qualifications to improve practitioner skills in recognising and responding to trauma.

Custody: There have been long-standing concerns about the distant placing of Welsh children away from their home area. We will explore options for:
• All Welsh-resident children being placed in secure accommodation in Wales and near to their home communities. This will include reciprocal arrangements with England so that cross-border 

arrangements are in place for individual cases on an exceptional basis. 
• Trauma-informed secure provision, drawing on best practice in multi-agency working to develop a centre of excellence with delivery of mental health, health care education and training.

Resettlement and transitions: Resettlement is most effective when there is multi-disciplinary, collaborative working between agencies providing support in custody and the community. We will consider 
how:
• A ‘Constructive Resettlement’ approach can be adopted, so work with children is constructive, co-created, customised, consistent and co-ordinated. 
• Resettlement practice can be broadened to encompass family-focused work to prepare the home environment for the child’s return; improving reintegration. 
• Multi-agency responses to reintegration and resettlement can be further strengthened. 
• Transition arrangements to adult criminal justice services other adult services such as mental health, substance misuse can be improved.

System oversight: Effective delivery of youth justice services requires robust oversight and partnership arrangements. We will explore options for: 
• A national trauma-informed approach for the delivery of youth justice services in Wales. This will require continued partnership arrangements between the UK Government and Welsh Government to 

enable the co-ordinated exercise of respective functions to deliver the Blueprint and embed new systems and arrangements.
• Strengthened partnership arrangements between the Welsh Government, Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service Wales, Youth Custody Service and the Youth Justice Board to enable the co-

ordinated exercise of the respective functions to deliver the Blueprint and embed new systems and arrangements.

Our guiding principles

The Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales sets out 
our vision for youth justice in Wales. It will: 

Take a ‘children first’ approach to youth 
justice, ensure that it is child-centred rather 
than service focused, ensure that it meets the 
individual needs of children and responds to 
their best interests. 

Take a trauma-informed approach throughout 
the various stages of the youth justice system, 
from prevention and early intervention to 
resettlement from custody, recognising and 
responding to ACEs and indicators of complex 
need.  

Embed trauma-informed approaches into 
community and custodial practice to effect 
cultural and systemic change and deliver 
consistent approaches in meeting children’s 
needs. 

Align devolved and non-devolved services 
through a shared vision, values and approach 
which underpins the design and delivery of 
services. 

What success looks like

The youth justice system has experienced significant reductions in first time entrants, and 
custodial populations.  This Blueprint builds on this success.  It aims to improve criminal and 
social outcomes for children in contact with the youth justice system and to support them to 
develop resilience and to fulfil their potential.  It aligns with the principles and objectives of the 
Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 by modifying services to improve outcomes 
for children, their families, victims and the wider community. Recognising and responding 

appropriately to the impact that trauma and ACEs have on children, will result in more effective 
responses, reduce the likelihood of perpetuating ACEs in successive generations and inter-
generational criminal behaviour.   

This whole-system approach is intended to ensure that children in, or at risk of entering the 
youth justice system will have access to services that act in their best interests, are non-

discriminatory, encourage their active participation in decisions which affect them and ensure 
their access to rights and entitlements. The Blueprint sets out a commitment for realising how 
devolved and non-devolved services can work together to realise children’s rights and develop 
a youth justice system in Wales which is based on rights-based principles.

The implementation of the Youth Justice Blueprint will be overseen through a specialist programme under the oversight of the Wales Youth Justice Advisory Panel.

Preventing children from entering the criminal justice system, minimising their contact with it and maximising opportunities for diversion is 
essential in supporting them to lead crime free lives.  The statutory  aim of the youth justice system is to prevent offending by children. The Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 sets out requirements to ensure local 
services are provided to prevent children from offending and to promote their future welfare.  Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) can have a 
significant effect on mental well-being throughout life leading to negative outcomes such as involvement in crime.    

Those with four or more ACEs are 15 times more likely to commit violence and 20 times more likely to be imprisoned.  Policy is therefore focused 
on preventing and minimising the impact of ACEs, of stopping inter-generational problems and developing resilience to improve life chances. 
The Youth Justice Blueprint also recognises the commitment to the delivery of children’s rights in Wales. The whole-system approach described 
below takes account of the relevant articles of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child in the design of youth justice services 
for Wales.  It sets out the ambition for a rights-based and trauma-informed system, which will support services to deliver positive outcomes for 
children in Wales.  

Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales  

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Thematic Area Recommendation (milestone) Recommendation (milestone) Timescale
Prevention Seek to retain dedicated funding for Youth Offending Team (YOT) prevention and pre-

court diversion activity through the Promoting Positive Engagement (PPE) Fund 
• Following publication of the evaluation report on the Children’s and Community 

Grant (CCG) in May 2019 seek assured funding to support delivery of prevention, 
early intervention and diversion ambitions

Short term

Develop a national approach for targeted YOT prevention activity and ensure it is 
embedded in a joint framework model for Wales

• Map existing measures on data collection approaches, reporting requirements 
and targeted interventions delivered locally and nationally, including youth justice 
prevention work, youth work activity and local authority services, to determine good 
practice in delivering well-being outcomes.

• Consider whether a Wales system-wide position statement on youth justice 
prevention would be appropriate.

Short term

Enhanced monitoring of prevention activity to demonstrate impact and improve the 
evidence base

• Explore the potential to use existing Dyfed Powys materials to provide better, more 
consistent evidence of activity and effectiveness

Short term

Alignment of reporting mechanisms/conditions of funding across the Welsh Government, 
Youth Justice Board and Police and Crime Commissioner contributions to prevention 
activity and pre-court diversion to reduce bureaucracy

• Analyse contributions to prevention from YOT annual youth justice plans and seek 
opportunities to inform how alignment and pooled funding could be taken forward.

Short term

Pre-Court Diversion Support existing approaches to pre-court diversion through Bureau and Divert (formerly 
Triage)

• Continue to support and fund pre-court diversion work to reduce first time entrants 
into the youth justice system 

• Retaining control over funding and influence are essential to realising Welsh 
Government and wider justice partner objectives.

Ongoing

Development of diversionary practices • Work with police forces and PCCs to  identify, develop and share good practice and 
establish consistentcy in approach across Wales

• Explore whether youth restorative discposal/community resolutions are consistently 
notified by the Police to YOTs

• Work with PCCs and Children’s Commissioner for Wales to establish children’s 
rights when issued with a restorative disposal including legal safeguards and advice 
provided to children

• Explore the potential for a cannabis diversion project as recommended by HMI 
Probation

Short term

Improved partnership between devolved and non-devolved services to deliver youth justice in Wales is a shared priority of UK and Welsh Governments.  This implementation plan sets out a shared commitment to 
exploring recommendations made by the Youth Justice Board Cymru

Youth Justice Blueprint Implementation Plan  

P
age 33



Community Work with police to ensure that Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are identified 
when children come to the attention of the police and the YOTs are informed

• Map existing provision for ACEs recording including Early Action Together (EAT) and 
make recommendations on information sharing and further policy development for 
children

Short term

Roll-out Enhanced Case Management (ECM) nationally for complex and high-risk 
children under YOT supervision

• Continue to  develop, support and evaluate ECM pilot in four YOTs across South 
Wales (Cardiff, Cwm Taf, Vale of Glamorgan and the YOTs that formerly made up 
Western Bay), ending in March 2020. 

• Support and develop work in the test areas (Blaenau Gwent Caerphilly, 
Carmarthenshire and Flintshire) to embed ECM practice.

• Roll-out trauma-informed training to all YOTs in Wales including developing materials 
to assist in start-up.

• Develop Agreed qualifications: level 1 basic awareness of ACEs, level 2 understanding 
the Trauma Recovery Model or theory underpinning trauma-informed practice and 
level 3 ECM practitioner.

Medium term

Resettlement and Transition Adopt the YJB’s proposal for Constructive Resettlement • Consideration to be given to how to adopt the YJB proposal, taking into account the 
MoJ national guidance and the Farmer Review

Short term

Develop family work to include family-focused preparation for the child’s release • Welsh Government Crime and Justice Team to develop proposals to integrate this 
recommendation with the supporting (adult) offenders and their families workstream 
of the  Framework to Support Positive Change for Those at Risk of Offinding in 
Wales 2018 -2023.

Short term

Revisit proposals to introduce re-integration and resettlement partnerships in legislation • Explore and consult with resettlement partners regarding reintegration and 
resettlement partnerships.  

• Review proposals (to introduce legislation on reintegration and resettlement 
partnerships) from the delvery plan for Children and Young People First, the joint 
Youth Justice Strategy for Wales published in 2014.

Short term

Develop trauma-informed approaches for those making the transition to adult services • Work with National Probation Service and Public Health Wales to identify trauma 
informed  practice, as part of wider refresh of transitions guidance for Wales

Short term

Custody All Welsh resident children remanded or sentenced to custody to be in small units in 
Wales, based on a  trauma-informed model, with hub and spoke service delivery to the 
community for complex and high-risk cases under YOT supervision and on resettlement

• Anayse the requirement and forecast need for Wales Short term

Assess the secure custody provision to meet the needs of children requiring all forms of 
secure care: in-patient mental health care, detox for substance misuse or placement on 
a secure welfare order and including justice beds. 

• Identify potential options to meet need and investigate approach to commissioning, 
placement, operation, delivery of specialist services, monitoring and oversight for a 
secure facility

Medium term

• Secure funding and approval for implementation Medium term

System Oversight Establish how a national model for a national trauma-informed youth justice service 
meets the needs of children and young people in Wales

• Determine the detail of the model including funding, powers, responsibilities and 
governance to strengthen existing partnership arrangements and support a co-
sponsored youth justice service jointly owned by the UK Government and Welsh 
Government.

Short term

• Review options for future data sets, assessment methodologoies to support a 
trauma-informed system

Medium term

• Engage with Inspectorates to ensure inspection requirements fit the whole-system 
trauma informed delivery model

Long Term

Timescale Key

Short term 1yr 2019-2020

Medium Term 2yr 2020/21 – 2021/22

Long term 3yrs + 2022/2023

P
age 34



  

Tackling Violence – the South Wales Approach   ITEM D 

  

 

On 22 May I was invited to represent the Association of Police & Crime 
Commissioners at the Home Secretary’s Taskforce on Serious Crime and to 
contribute on the basis of our experience in South Wales of trying to understand 
and prevent violence of all sorts. 

I acknowledged the importance of tackling the current and real threat posed by 
the increase in serious violence across the country and the connections to 
“County Lines” and organised crime, and I welcomed the Home Secretary’s focus 
on tackling this immediate issue. But I pointed out that there is a long-standing 
track record of tackling violence in South Wales over the past 25 years, which 
includes detailed systems for collecting and understanding the evidence – going 
beyond reports to the police to analyse NHS experience.  

The starting point was the work of Professor Jon Shepherd, who came to see me 
in the mid-1990s when he recognised that violent injuries were going up in 
hospitals at a time where traffic related injuries were going down due to 
incremental improvements over decades, from seat belts to better tyres and 
brakes and from the breathalyser to speed limits and traffic calming.  Why not 
take an incremental approach to violent behaviour?  The Council and the Police 
in Cardiff were persuaded to get involved and year on year we still build on the 
foundations laid at that time.  In safeguarding students, explaining the impact of 
alcohol as a contributor of violence, or our DYFODOL programme that targets 
people in the criminal justice system with drug & alcohol dependency, the issues 
are inter-connected so solutions have to be evidence-based and joined up too. 

I explained that since I became Police & Crime Commissioner we have built on 
that initial work for example through the Help Point in Swansea (it saves 1,300 
ambulance journeys per year and 1,100 admissions to A&E) and the Joint 
Strategy to tackle Violence against Women and Girls developed by myself and 
the Chief Constable.  Ours has been a joined-up, long-term, evidence-based 
journey with partners.  Not only does this fit with the “Public Health approach 
to Crime, Disorder and Anti-Social Behaviour” that I have long advocated, but it 
is based on the inter-connected nature of contemporary challenges to policing 
and health alike. The collaboration to analyse NHS data was established in April 
2014 between Public Health Wales and South Wales Police, with local Health 
Boards and the Welsh Ambulance Service Trust, and seeks to use evidence to 
prevent violence at the source by identifying and mapping communities, 
specifically police beats, which have the highest numbers of presentations to 
health care as a result of violence. This allows for targeted intervention to 
prevent violence in communities that are most at-risk. Regular routine reports 
are produced for Local Violence Prevention Groups and provide evidence-based 
advice for intervention and prevention.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 7d



  

 
 

  

 
 

More recently, what has motivated and mobilised the partners in recent years 
is the stunning report from Public Health Wales that quantified the impact of 
four or more incidents of ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences) – showing that 
the same causes drive being a perpetrator of violence, a victim of violence, 
ending up in prison, as well as driving bad health, social issues, familial issues 
and self-harm. While we all knew that bad things early in life lead to bad things 
later in life, the graphic quantification of the impact grabbed the attention of 
Welsh Ministers, Police & Crime Commissioners, Chief Constables and others 
and has proved compelling to many with whom we work.  

The key graphic that sets out the quantification is worth repeating and drawing 
to the attention of the Home Secretary’s Task Force, although the members of 
the Panel will be familiar with it  

 

Central to our Public Health approach is to give police officers and their partners 
a “trauma-informed” understanding of the root causes of behaviour.  Our 
successful police-led ACEs - Early Action Together - is receiving international 
attention because it applies a systems-wide approach to transforming the way 
police and partners work together to break intergenerational cycles of crime by 
recognising and responding to vulnerability.  Early work in Maesteg proved the 
value and has provided the basis for an almost industrial approach to rolling out 
the lessons across all four Welsh Forces – again, with Public Health Wales and 
Welsh Government as key partners.  The programme was recognised in the UK 
Government’s Serious Violence Strategy (2018) and we receive pleas from 
across the UK and around the world to share the early learning of this long-term 
transformational change.  

Page 36



  

 

  

 

I pointed out that this is one of the most fundamentally innovative change 
programmes to happen to policing and we were delighted to be asked to put 
forward plans to further develop the work and roil it out to Forces in England. 
Sadly the recent cut in funds available to the Home Office Transformation Fund 
from £22.5m to around £7m means that this possibility has been put on hold.  
Given the crucial contribution to the long-term benefit of policing and public 
safety it is important to stress that it has the potential to have an impact on all 
forms of violence, whether within the Night Time Economy, in domestic settings 
or in street related violence.  

I added that it also important to recognise the impact ACEs have in creating the 
very vulnerabilities that are at the heart of exploitation through the county lines 
model, so we are hoping against hope that the Home Office will find a way to 
reopen the door before the current progress and momentum is dissipated..  

Taking a long-term approach does not involve neglecting the current and 
pressing challenges that are with us today.  Recently we seized the opportunity 
to engage with the other Welsh forces to tackle the county lines threat together 
and led a successful collaborative bid to the Home Office Early Youth 
Intervention Fund to tackle the immediate issues through the development of a 
Serious Violence Prevention Project. This sits within the long term collaborative 
approach as we aim to ensure that young people in Wales live a life free from 
serious violence. Interventions will be tested in different settings to identify 
what works, with emphasis on tackling the drivers of serious violence through 
early intervention and prevention, combining an all-Wales approach and local 
targeted interventions by key delivery partners based on local crime profiling. 

As a member of the Home Secretary’s Serious Violence Task Force Tracey 
Cooper, Chief Executive of Public Health Wales, has been asked by the All-Wales 
Criminal Justice Board to chair the all-Wales Serious Violence Group while Prof 
Mark Bellis adds a wealth of experience as her Vice Chair.  The purpose of this 
group is to align the Home Office Serious Violence Strategy to the ambitions set 
out in the Partnership Agreement between Public Health Wales, Policing and the 
other Criminal Justice Agencies operating in Wales.  It’s a forum for developing 
consensus, setting direction and providing advice and provides a conduit for 
information to flow between the Home Secretary’s Serious Violence Taskforce 
and stakeholders in Wales. An early focus for the Working Group has been to 
develop a jointly agreed cross-sector strategy and action plan for tackling serious 
violence in Wales, through a public health approach, and oversee its 
implementation. The aim is for this to focus on serious violence including 
reducing knife and gun crime, tackling county lines and improving the data 
exchange between health, policing, criminal justice and other partners.  

Page 37



  

 
 

  

 
 

With the agreement of all Welsh Police and Crime Commissioners and Chief 
Constables we have undertaken a strategic review of the whole of Wales to 
produce a framework for tackling serious violence across the country. The 
Violence and Vulnerability Unit established by the Home Office was 
commissioned to conduct this work and over 200 people from 80+ organisations 
have been consulted and following a series of recommendations we are 
developing a strategy that will ensure the Serious Violence Strategy is fully 
implemented in Wales taking the devolved picture into the equation and enable 
a consistent approach across the police forces and our partner agencies.  

I am encouraged to hear the Home Secretary advocating a Public Health 
approach to tackling serious violence because we have demonstrated that it 
works. Partnership working is crucial but it’s not enough on its own – and in any 
event it is already a requirement under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  What 
is needed in addition is the methodology and resource for shared analytics and 
joint actions.  We are helped in Wales by the Well-being of Future Generations 
Act that asks public bodies to focus on the long term, to work better with 
communities and each other, and to take a joined-up approach, coordinated 
through multi-agency Public Service Boards. Community safety is currently being 
refreshed in Wales, through joint activity between Policing, Welsh Local 
Government and Welsh Government, with Serious Violence as a central theme.  

As the evidence shows, everything is connected to everything else, and our 
responses must be too - for the short term and the long term alike.  Other 
speakers at the Task Force were also emphasising the need for a long-term 
approach, which is encouraging.  It is to be hoped that the progress we have 
made with ground-breaking police-led work on ACEs through Early Action 
Together and enhancing data sharing through the NOMADs programme led by 
my Deputy Emma Wools will not be cut short by the shifting of money from the 
long-term to the short-term.  The evidence to the Panel in January that South 
Wales Police provide £0.5billion of benefit to the economy of South Wales 
demonstrates that the benefit of a long-term preventative approach is 
significant – but it has to be long term. 

Rt Hon Alun Michael,  

Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales 

May 2019 

Page 38



  

  

South Wales Police 
 
Demand, Challenges and 
Performance 
 
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 7e



  

  
South Wales Police force area summary 

• Violence without injury has seen a continuous increase in offences since 2014. 
• In the 12 months to March 2018/19 , there were 17,209 domestic abuse recorded crimes, an increase of 

10.4% compared to last year. The force deals with 1430 domestic related crimes every month. 
• Knife crime has significantly increased in recent years. From Apr 18 to Jan 19, there were 615 offences – 

projected to the end of the financial year this figure will be 738. If we compare this to 2013/14 figures 
there has been an increase of 100% since 2013/14. 

• Recorded sexual offences have increased by 8.4%  in the 12 months to March 2019. This equates to a 
13% increase in recorded rapes, a 0.7% increase in other serious sexual offences and a 18.5% increase in 
other sexual offences. 

P
age 40



  

  

On average, in 2018/19, South Wales Police 
investigated and managed 28 missing person 
reports per day. This is a rise of 4 per day 
compared to 2017/18 and a 16% year on year 
increase in missing person investigations. 
 
A fifth of these reports are missing children (17 
years of age and under), many of which are 
looked after children and reside in Care Homes 
or are in foster care. Around a quarter of child 
mispers are also at risk of CSE. 
 
In total, there were 10,288 reports of missing 
persons in the 12 months to March 2018.  
 
 

In 2018/19, the force responded to over 
30,000 mental health occurrences, an 
average of 84 occurrences per day.  
This is lower than the high levels recorded 
in previous years, however; this is likely to 
be due to improved recording of mental 
health occurrences rather than a decline 
in the number of offences reported. 
 
Following a two-year period of decline, 
detentions under Section 136 of the 
Mental Health Act are increasing with 
44.7% more referrals in 2018/19 
compared to 2016/17 and it is expected 
this will continue to increase.   
 
On average around 4.5 hours deployment 
time is spent dealing with each mental 
health related occurrence with roughly 
60% of the people already known to 
mental health services.  
 
These people have had on average at least 
15 events recorded in the last 12 months 
requiring force involvement 
 

South Wales Police force area summary 

P
age 41



  

  
South Wales Police force area summary 

2018-19  Emergency Non-Emergency Switchboard 

Number of calls received 201,949 437,032 64,722 

% of calls answered 99.4% 85.8% 86.6% 

Answer in 'Target' 181,030 214,108 45,006 

% of calls answered in target 89.6% 49.0% 69.5% 

Average wait time under 6 secs 2 min 43 secs   

P
age 42



  

  
South Wales Police force area summary 

101 calls have risen 
consistently by 6% over the 
previous 3 years, there are 
increasingly seasonal 
differences in volumes. 
Unprecedented levels of 
calls - July 2018 recorded 
the highest ever volume of 
101 calls for a single 
month: 44,329. 
February 2019 also saw 
higher than expected 
volume of calls with 32,455 
compared with 30,405 in 
2018 and 28,587 in 2017 

A rise in 999 demand and 
increasingly seasonal 
variation 
Despite these demands, 
South Wales is one of the 
top performing Forces for 
999 call answering. 
 
999 abandonment is under 
0.5% against a national 
average of 2% 
 

P
age 43



  

  

P
age 44



  

  

SOUTH WALES POLICE 
DEMAND AND PERFORMANCE 2018 

 
2018 figures compared with 2017 

Northern BCU 

-3% -7% 

+8% -6% 

+21% +8% 

-5% +51% 

+19% +13% 

+37% -3% 

+12% 

Emergency and 
Priority Incidents 
47,353 incidents 

Arrests 
8,569 a year 

Assaults Against 
Officers 
74 recorded 

Rape and Sexual 
Offences 
investigated 540 offences  

Violence With Injury 
2,968 offences 

Knife Crime 
157 offences  

Stalking and 
Harassment 
2,948 offences recorded 

Domestic Abuse 
8,718 a year 

Drugs Offences 
821 

Burglary 
1,446 

Missing People 
investigated 2,291 reports  

Mental Health 
189 detention powers used 

Serious Injury Road 
Traffic Collisions 
Responded and investigated 
28 collisions 

Robbery 
64 -6% 

Page 45



  

  

472 

93 8 6 

5.3 

4.9 

2.0 

1.8 

27.3 

29.0 

+2% 

+8% 

-11% 

-3% 

+9.7% 

-6% 

83% 

88% 

97% 

98% 

49% 

59% 

33% 

36% 

84% 

86% 

25% 

33% 

Police Constables 

PCSOs 

 
NPT Sergeants 

We have protected the frontline and have maintained local, visible policing 

Our commitment to Neighbourhood Policing remains 

Crime levels per 1,000 population per year 

% Crime Change 2017 to 2018  

% of crimes with a suspect identified 

% outcomes that are positive (bringing more offenders to justice) 

Burglary Sexual Offences Violent Crime  
 

Violent Crime Burglary Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Force 
 
 

Northern 
BCU 

Force 
 
 

Northern 
BCU 

Force 
 
 

Northern 
BCU 

Force 
 
 

Northern 
BCU 

School 
Officers 

Keeping South Wales Safe 

43 Police Staff 

Page 46



  

  

SOUTH WALES POLICE 
DEMAND AND PERFORMANCE 2018 

 
2018 figures compared with 2017 

Central BCU 

+69% -6% 

-8% +4% 

+24% -2% 

+2% +20% 

+17% +7% 

+9% -16% 

0% 

Emergency and 
Priority Incidents 
36,353 incidents 

Arrests 
6,043 a year 

Assaults Against 
Officers 
71 recorded 

Rape and Sexual 
Offences 
investigated 463 offences  

Violence With Injury 
2,221 offences 

Knife Crime 
104 offences  

Stalking and 
Harassment 
2,268 offences recorded 

Domestic Abuse 
6,606 a year 

Drugs Offences 
666 

Burglary 
1,096 

Missing People 
investigated 2,278 reports  

Mental Health 
190 detention powers used 

Serious Injury Road 
Traffic Collisions 
Responded and investigated 
16 collisions 

Robbery 
57 -6% 

Page 47



  

  

380 

82 10 5 

5.3 

4.1 

2.0 

1.7 

27.3 

24.3 

+2% 

-2% 

-11% 

-16% 

+9.7% 

+5.6% 

83% 

88% 

97% 

98% 

49% 

69% 

33% 

35% 

84% 

86% 

25% 

31% 

Police Constables 

PCSOs 

 
NPT Sergeants 

We have protected the frontline and have maintained local, visible policing 

Our commitment to Neighbourhood Policing remains 

Crime levels per 1,000 population per year 

% Crime Change 2017 to 2018  

% of crimes with a suspect identified 

% outcomes that are positive (bringing more offenders to justice) 

Burglary Sexual Offences Violent Crime  
 

Violent Crime Burglary Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Force 
 
 

Central BCU 

Force 
 
 

Central BCU 

Force 
 
 

Central BCU 

Force 
 
 

Central BCU 

School 
Officers 

Keeping South Wales Safe 

37 Police Staff 

Page 48



  

  

SOUTH WALES POLICE 
DEMAND AND PERFORMANCE 2018 

 
2018 figures compared with 2017 

Eastern BCU 

+61% -5% 

-4% +3% 

+24% 0% 

+2% +9% 

+10% +34% 

+37% -14% 

-4% 

Emergency and 
Priority Incidents 
70,048 incidents 

Arrests 
15,231 a year 

Assaults Against 
Officers 
148 recorded 

Rape and Sexual 
Offences 
Investigated 837 offences  

Violence With Injury 
3,704 offences 

Knife Crime 
292 offences  

Stalking and 
Harassment 
3,079 offences recorded 

Domestic Abuse 
8,938 a year 

Drugs Offences 
1,629 

Burglary 
2,550  

Missing People 
Investigated 2,438 reports  

Mental Health 
283 detention powers used 

Serious Injury Road 
Traffic Collisions 
Responded and investigated 
27 collisions 

Robbery 
261 -6% 

Page 49



  

  

645 

108 9 6 

5.3 

7.1 

2.0 

2.3 

27.3 

29.4 

+2% 

0% 

-11% 

-14% 

+9.7% 

+5.7% 

83% 

78% 

97% 

96% 

49% 

40% 

33% 

33% 

84% 

83% 

25% 

20% 

Police Constables 

PCSOs 

 
NPT Sergeants 

We have protected the frontline and have maintained local, visible policing 

Our commitment to Neighbourhood Policing remains 

Crime levels per 1,000 population per year 

% Crime Change 2017 to 2018  

% of crimes with a suspect identified 

% outcomes that are positive (bringing more offenders to justice) 

Burglary Sexual Offences Violent Crime  
 

Violent Crime Burglary Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Force 
 
 

Eastern BCU 

Force 
 
 

Eastern BCU 

Force 
 
 

Eastern BCU 

Force 
 
 

Eastern BCU 

School 
Officers 

Keeping South Wales Safe 

55 Police Staff 

Page 50



  

  

SOUTH WALES POLICE 
DEMAND AND PERFORMANCE 2018 

 
2018 figures compared with 2017 

Western BCU 

+50% -6% 

+18% -6% 

+21% +5% 

-9% +32% 

+23% +16% 

+15% -12% 

-13% 

Emergency and 
Priority Incidents 
63,162 incidents 

Arrests 
9,395 a year 

Assaults Against 
Officers 
99 recorded 

Rape and Sexual 
Offences 
Investigated 795 offences  

Violence With Injury 
3,280 offences 

Knife Crime 
165 offences  

Stalking and 
Harassment 
3,502 offences recorded 

Domestic Abuse 
9,746 a year 

Drugs Offences 
1,110  

Burglary 
1,867  

Missing People 
Investigated 3,143 reports  

Mental Health 
297 detention powers used 

Serious Injury Road 
Traffic Collisions 
Responded and investigated 
35 collisions 

Robbery 
161  +28% 

Page 51



  

  

581 

123 13 8 

5.3 

4.9 

2.0 

2.1 

27.3 

26.0 

+2% 

+5% 

-11% 

-12% 

+9.7% 

+27.8% 

83% 

81% 

97% 

96% 

49% 

54% 

33% 

29% 

84% 

83% 

25% 

29% 

Police Constables 

PCSOs 

 
NPT Sergeants 

We have protected the frontline and have maintained local, visible policing 

Our commitment to Neighbourhood Policing remains 

Crime levels per 1,000 population per year 

% Crime Change 2017 to 2018  

% of crimes with a suspect identified 

% outcomes that are positive (bringing more offenders to justice) 

Burglary Sexual Offences Violent Crime  
 

Violent Crime Burglary Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Violent Crime Drugs Robbery 

Force 
 
 

Western BCU 

Force 
 
 

Western BCU 

Force 
 
 

Western BCU 

Force 
 
 

Western BCU 

School 
Officers 

Police Staff 53 

Keeping South Wales Safe 
Page 52



  

  

SOUTH WALES POLICE 
DEMAND AND PERFORMANCE 2018 

 
2018 figures compared with 2017 

999 Calls 
 

Received 197,000 calls, 
 an extra 8,000 calls 

+4% 

101 Calls 
 

Received 434,000 calls, 
an extra 24,000 calls 

+6% 

+42% -6% 

+3% -2% 

+22% +3% 

-4% +23% 

+17% +20% 

+17% -11% 

+2% +28% 

Emergency and 
Priority Incidents 
100,000 emergency incidents 
121,000 priority incidents 

Arrests 
39,000 arrests made 

Assaults Against 
Officers (no injury) 
392 recorded 

Rape and Sexual 
Offences 
investigate 3,300 offences  

Violence With Injury 
12,000 offences 

Knife Crime 
720 offences  

Stalking and 
Harassment 
11,800 offences recorded 

Domestic Abuse 
34,000 incidents 

Drugs Offences 
extra 700 recorded  

Burglary 
reduced by 73 crimes a 
month 

Missing People 
investigate 10,100 reports  

Mental Health 
954 detention powers used 

Respond to Disclosure 
and Freedom of 
Information Requests 
15,800 extra requests  

Serious Injury Road 
Traffic Collisions 
respond and investigate 104 
collisions 

Page 53



  

  

2,896 3rd highest  

406 203 25 

7.2 

5.65 

2.6 

2.4 

24.06 

23.7 

22% 

8% 

5% 

1% 

30% 

26% 

71% 

81% 

84% 

89% 

31% 

45% 

16% 

26% 

73% 

82% 

13% 

28% 

GOOD 
We are assessed as a “Good” force by Her Majesty 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire Rescue 

Police Officers 
Number of Officers and 

Staff per 1000 Population 

PCSOs 

PC/PS 
Neighbourhood 
Beat Managers 

School 
Officers 

We have protected the frontline and have maintained local, visible policing 

Our commitment to Neighbourhood Policing remains 

Crime is lower in our communities (Crime per 1000 population per year) 

Crime is up but at a lower level than in other parts of England and Wales 

We identify more suspects (% of crimes with a suspect identified) 

We bring more offenders to justice 

Burglary Sexual Offences Violence Against a Person 
(with or without injury) 

Violent Crime Burglary Robbery 

Personal Violence Drugs Robbery 

Personal Violence Drugs Robbery 

National 
 
 

Force 

National 
 
 

Force 

National 
 
 

Force 

National 
 
 

Force 

Page 54



 

 

 

REPORT TO  

THE SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

4th June 2019 

Oversight of Complaints. 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 

This report sets out all complaints against the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for South Wales, and/or his Deputy, that have been received by the South 
Wales Police and Crime Panel since the 5th December 2017.  
 

 

1.0 Background / Information 

1.1 The Elected Local Policing Bodies (Complaints and Misconduct) 
Regulations 2012 make the South Wales Police and Crime Panel 
responsible for overseeing complaints made about the conduct of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales and the Deputy 
Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales. 
 

1.2 The initial handling, including categorisation, recording of decision-
making, referral of criminal allegations to the Independent Office for 
Police Conduct (IOPC), and responding to the complainant in the first 
instance, is dealt with by the panel via the host local authority (Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council). 

 
1.3 As per the Panel’s Rules of Procedure, the host local authority will 

draw the complaint to the attention of the Chair of the Panel and the 
Monitoring Officer of the host authority. 

 
1.4 Allegations which are deemed to be “conduct matters” or “serious 

complaints” must be submitted to the IOPC for consideration. Conduct 
matters are complaints that contain an indication that a criminal offence 
may have been committed by the Commissioner or his Deputy whilst a 
Serious Complaint is one which alleges conduct on the part of the 
Commissioner or his Deputy which constitutes or involves, or appears 
to constitute or involve, the commission of a criminal offence. Non-
criminal complaints will be managed by the Chair of the Panel in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer of the host authority.  

 
1.5 The Panel may forward or refer complaints, if they are deemed 

appropriate for local resolution, to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Chief of Staff. On behalf of the Panel the 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



 

Commissioner’s Chief Executive will investigate the complaint and will 
provide the Chair of the Panel with a summary of the investigation and 
his findings. The Chair and the host authority’s Monitoring Officer will 
then consider the same and determine what action will be taken in 
relation to the same. 

 

 
2.0  Summary of complaints 

 2.1  A summary of the complaints received since complaints were last 
reported to the Panel on the 5th December 2017 and an update of 
those complaints made prior to that date but not concluded by that date 
is attached (Appendix I) 

 
 2.2 A copy of the complaint case file is available for review by members of 

the Panel. 
 

3.0  Recommendation(s) 

3.1 The Panel is asked to note the content of the report. 
 

Simon Jones 

Senior Solicitor 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

 

 

Appendix I 

Complaints received by the 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

PCP Ref Date Complaint Received Complaint Category Date Complaint Closed 

2014/2 

2014/2(a) 

2014/2(b) 

2014/2(c) 

2014/2(d) 

16th April 2014 

2nd November 2016 

15th March 2017 

May 2017 

22nd January 2019 

Complaint. 

Complaint. 

Serious complaint. 

Complaint 

Complaint 

 8th December 2014 

13th April 2017 

15th February 2018 

17th October 2017 

31st March 2019 

Details of Complaint 

 

Complaint 2014/2 - received April 2014 that the Commissioner had failed to respond to letters 

asking him to deal with Police corruption. 

Appeal to IPCC - 10th June 2015 - Complaint to IPCC regarding the Panel’s handling of his 

complaint. IPCC deem complaint not valid and cannot be dealt with by them. 

Complaint 2014/2(a) – received 24th October 2016 complaint that Commissioner has failed to 

respond to letter 8th September 2014. 

Complaint 2014/2(b) – received by IPCC 28th December 2016 forwarded to Panel by IPCC on 

the 15th March 2017. Complaint that Commissioner had “corruptly and dishonestly disregarded 

the truth” when investigating the complainant’s complaint against the SWP Chief Constable. 

Complaint 2014/2(c) – received May 2017. Complaint that the Commissioner’s website states 

that Complaint 1 was not upheld. 

Complaint 2014/2(d) – received 22nd January 2019. Complaint that the Commissioner had 

failed to reply to his correspondence. 

Action 

 

Complaint 2014/2 - Referred to Commissioner’s Chief of Staff for informal resolution. 

Appeal to IPCC – no further action. 

Complaint 2014/2(a) - referred to Chief of Staff – response received attaching Commissioner’s 

Page 57



 

response to letter dated 22nd September 2014. 

Complaint 2014/2(b) – referred to IPCC as a serious complaint. Complaint referred back to 

Panel by IPCC. Complaint referred to Commissioner’s Chief of Staff for informal resolution. 

Complaint 2014/2(c) – referred to Commissioner’s Chief of Staff for informal resolution. 

Complaint 2014/2(d) – referred to Commissioner’s Chief of Staff for informal resolution. 

Resolution 

 

Complaint 2014/2 – On the 9th December 2014 Panel UPHELD complaint in part – 

Commissioner has since responded to the complainant. 

Complaint 2014/2(a) – On the 13th April 2017 complaint NOT UPHELD. 

Complaint 2014/2(b) – Complaint NOT UPHELD. 

Complaint 2014/2(c) – UPHELD – website changed to read "original substantive complaint - 

not upheld although the Panel considered the Commissioner could have informed the 

complainant earlier that he had no authority to investigate his complaint” 

Complaint 2014/2(d) – Complaint NOT UPHELD. 

 

Complaints received by the 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

PCP Ref Date Complaint Received Complaint Category Date Complaint Closed 

     2018/01   17th May 2018             Complaint. 11th July 2018 

Details of Complaint 

Complaint alleging the Commissioner gave the complainant contradictory & misleading 

information. 

Action 

Referred to Commissioner’s Chief of Staff for informal resolution 

Resolution 

Complaint NOT UPHELD. 

 

 

Page 58



 

Complaints received by the 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

PCP Ref Date Complaint Received Complaint Category Date Complaint Closed 

     2018/02   7th June 2018             Not recorded 12th June 2018 

Details of Complaint 

Complaint about the actions of SWP. 

Action 

Complainant advised to refer matter to the Police. 

Resolution 

No action – outside remit of Panel 

 

Complaints received by the 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

PCP Ref Date Complaint Received Complaint Category Date Complaint Closed 

     2018/03   11th June 2018             Complaint 8th November 2018 

Details of Complaint 

Complaint that (1) the Commissioner failed to properly respond to complainant’s letters and (2) 

failed to achieve and ensure equality and fairness with regard to pay and conditions for SWP 

staff and consequently (3) failed in his duty of care towards SWP staff affected by the same. 

Action 

Complaint (1) referred to Commissioner’s Chief of Staff for informal resolution. 

Resolution 

Complaint (1) UPHELD – reassurances sought from Commissioner. 

Complaints (2) and (3) outside remit of the Panel. 

 

Page 59



 

 

Complaints received by the 
South Wales Police and Crime Panel 

PCP Ref Date Complaint Received Complaint Category Date Complaint Closed 

     2018/04   6th August 2018             Complaint 18th December 2018 

Details of Complaint 

Complaint about the actions of the PCC who it was alleged had unreasonably to have 

refused to convene a further disciplinary appeal and thereafter failed to give a 

rationale for that decision. It was further alleged that the Commissioner had 

deliberately supplied the complainant with false information. 

Action 

Referred to Chief of Staff of Commissioner’s Office for informal resolution. 

Resolution 

NOT UPHELD 

 

Page 60


	Agenda
	4a Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 29 January 2019 of South Wales Police and Crime Panel
	4b Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 23 April 2019 of South Wales Police and Crime Panel
	5 Appointment of Chair
	6 Appointment of Vice Chair
	7a Violence against Women and Girls
	7c Criminal Justice Blueprints i. Women Offenders  ii Youth Offending
	Implementation Report - Women Offenders
	Report - Youth Offending
	Implementation Report - Youth Offending

	7d Serious Violent Crime Update
	7e Performance and Demand
	Appendix 1  -  Northern
	Appendix 2  -  Central
	Appendix 3  -  Eastern
	Appendix 4  -  Western
	Appendix 5  -  Demand and Performance 2018

	9 Oversight of Complaints

